)

BRYAN	JENNINGS,
	Appellant,
vs.	
STATE	OF FLORIDA,
	Appellee.

CASE NO. 62,600

ę



JAN 19 1983

SID J. WHITE

BLERK SUPRIME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the following symbols will be used:

- "R" Record on Appeal
- "A" Appendix attached to the initial brief consisting of the findings of fact in support of the death penalty imposed after the first trial held in February of 1980 (later reversed at 413 So.2d 24).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

BRYAN FREDERICK JENNINGS was initially charged by an indictment filed on May 16, 1979, in Brevard County. (R1042-1044) The indictment charged Jennings with the first degree premeditated murder of Rebecca Kunash, with the first degree felony-murder of Rebecca Kunash (during the course of a kidnapping with the intent to commit sexual battery), with the first degree felony-murder of Rebecca Kunash (during the course of a sexual battery), with the kidnapping of Rebecca Kunash, with three counts of capital sexual battery on Rebecca Kunash, with the burglary of the Robert Kunash dwelling with the intent to commit sexual battery or kidnapping and with an assault therein, and with the aggravated battery of Rebecca Kunash.

Following a trial in February, 1980, Jennings was convicted of all nine counts and sentenced to death. The trial judge entered his findings of fact in support thereof. (Al-7) Appellant's convictions and sentences were subsequently vacated by this Court, and the case was remanded for a new trial. (R1283-1289; Reported at 413 So.2d 24)

On June 11, 1982, the Brevard County Grand Jury reindicted Jennings on the same charges. (R1039-1041) Private counsel was appointed to represent Jennings. (R1276)

Defense counsel filed numerous pre-trial motions, including a motion to dismiss the indictment (R1260-1261), motions to suppress the defendant's statements, certain physical evidence, and photographs of the defendant (R1265-1272), and a motion for change of venue. (R1242-1243) A hearing on the various motions to suppress evidence was held on July 6, 1982. (R854-986) With the exception of a change of venue, the trial court denied all of the motions. (R1217,1233,1242-1243)

- 1 -

Trial by jury commenced on July 13, 1982, before the Honorable Clarence T. Johnson, Jr., Judge of the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Brevard County. (R1) At trial certain evidence was introduced over defense counsel's objection. (R222-223,246-247,463-464,481-482,485,488-490,1169-1172,1175,1208) At the close of the state's case, Appellant's specific motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (R516-526) This motion was renewed and again denied at the close of all of the evidence. (R550,551A)

During final closing argument by the state, the prosecutor made certain comments which prompted defense counsel to move for a mistrial. This was denied. (R604-605)

Following due deliberation, the jury returned with a verdict of not guilty as to Count VI (sexual battery) and guilty as charged as to the other eight counts. (R680-681,1156-1164)

Appellant waived his presence at the penalty phase. (R685-687) During the testimony of a state witness at the penalty phase, defense counsel made a motion for mistrial based upon the violation of a stipulation. (R265-266,693-695)

Several special jury instructions were requested by the defense for this stage of the trial. Almost all were denied. (R813,1130-1143) The jury returned with a nine to three recommendation to impose a sentence of death. (R844)

Throughout the trial and sentencing, defense counsel unsuccessfully sought to have Jennings sentenced as a mentally disordered sex offender or, in the alternative, to have him certified for a hearing on this issue. (R991-1007,1011-1012,1058,1061-1072)

- 2 -

The trial court adjudicated Bryan Jennings guilty on Counts I, IV, V, VII, VIII and IX. No sentence was imposed on Counts VII and IX. Jennings was sentenced to three consecutive life terms for Counts IV, V and VII. As to Count I, Jennings was sentenced to death. (R1029-1037,1047B-1047M) The judge found three aggravating factors and rejected all of the mitigating circumstances. (R1047B-1047G)

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (R1057) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 11, 1979, Robert and Patricia Kunash awakened to find that their daughter, Rebecca Kunash, age six, was missing from her bedroom. (R320-322,328-331) The bedroom window, which had been left unlocked, was open and the window screen was lying in the yard. (R327-334)

Police were summoned to the house. (R224-225,343-344,370-371) Conducting an investigation, they made a plaster cast of one footprint chosen from approximately fifty found in the sand outside of the Kunash home. (R285-286,297,306) Police also recovered latent fingerprints from the bedroom window sill. (R288) Several of the fingerprints were determined to match those of Bryan F. Jennings. (R405-408,425-428) One of the fingerprints matched that of Deputy Sheriff J. C. Hall. (R438-439) Out of the fifteen prints found, ten had no value. (R439-441) The footprint was similar in tread design to Jennings' shoes obtained from his mother. (R355-356,360,499-507).

At 2:15 p.m., the victim's nude body was discovered floating in a nearby canal by a boater. (R337-342) The police recovered the body from the water and transported it to the hospital for an autopsy. (R345) There were injuries to the facial area of the deceased's head and evidence of trauma to the head. (R236-237) At the back of the head, the skull was fractured. (R235) The medical examiner determined the cause of death to be asphyxia due to drowning. (R235)

The testimony indicated that the injuries to the head were sufficient in and of themselves to cause death. The injuries were consistent with being caused by the head striking a solid surface. (R243) The head injuries would have caused unconsciousness, followed by light coma which would gradually deepen prior to death. (R243)

- 4 -

The medical examiner also took swab samples from the victim's vagina, mouth and anus. (R238) A toxicologist's tests of the swabs from the vagina and mouth were positive for the presence of prostatic acid phosphatase which is found in seminal fluid, as well as other substances. (R249-253,257-258,269-282) The medical examiner opined that the acid phosphatase had been admitted into the victim's vagina prior to or immediately after death. (R242)

Bryan Jennings was in the Brevard County Jail due to his arrest on a traffic warrant from Orange County. (R867) At 1:00 a.m. on May 12, 1979, he was awakened by police and brought to an interview room for questioning concerning the girl's death. (R460-462,474-475,490) Agent Jerome Hudepohl from the Brevard County Sheriff's Department informed a still groggy Jennings of his rights and asked the defendant if he would talk with them without benefit of an attorney. (R869-875,1184-1185) Jennings hesitated and Hudepohl repeated the question. (R1185) At that point, Jennings momentarily agreed, saying he would talk but needed a few minutes to awaken fully. (R1185) Upon awakening more fully, Jennings immediately retracted his willingness to talk and told the officers that he wanted an attorney and did not want to discuss the case without one since the charge was "too heavy". (R1185) Hudepohl persisted in his questioning, asking if Bryan was fully awake and able to understand the proceed-(R1185) Bryan stated that he was still "half asleep", but was conscious ings. enough to realize that he did not wish to continue without an attorney. (R1185) Bryan concluded with a denial of any involvement. (R1185)

Agent Hudepohl did not stop the interview. (R893,1185) After a long pause, he told Jennings that it was his (the defendant's) right to exercise, but announced (in a lengthy soliloquy) the officers' willingness to listen to the defendant. (R1185) Agent Hudepohl indicated that they had to explain his

- 5 -

rights to him. (R1185) The agent told Jennings that they were giving the defendant an opportunity to talk to them and would allow Jennings to answer their questions. (R1185) However, before the defendant could avail himself of this opportunity, Agent Hudepohl explained, Jennings would first have to intelligently waive his rights. (R1185) It should be noted that after each of the agent's exhortations to confess, there was a "long pause" from Bryan by way of response. (R1185) Despite Bryan's silence and his adamant request for an attorney, the agents continued the interrogation.

After discussing his rights further, the interrogator told Jennings that the decision to talk or not was the defendant's to make, but that the police were giving him the opportunity to talk. (R1185) Jennings finally broke down and told Hudepohl that he would talk, but needed a chance to clear his head first. (R1186) After using the bathroom and upon questioning from Hudepohl, the defendant indicated that he did not need his rights read to him again and that he would proceed without an attorney. (R1186)

Jennings recounted his actions of the previous night, telling the officers that he had been awake all night drinking heavily at area bars and denying going near the Kunash residence. (R1186-1189) Upon repeated interrogation, the defendant denied again and again being in or around the victim's house on the previous night. (R1189-1192)

At this point, Hudepohl showed the defendant his latent fingerprints, his shoes, and the plaster cast of the footprint. (R1192-1194) Hudepohl, now referring to Jennings as "son", told the defendant that they knew that he was at the house and had gotten the girl, but as to how and why only Bryan knew. (R1193-1194) Jennings, again denying the charges, begged the police to listen to his denials. (R1194) Agent Porter, the other officer present, replied that they would listen to whatever Jennings had to say to them. (R1194)

- 6 -

Bryan admitted to the agents that he had a psychological problem that involved looking into windows, but claimed that it was harmless. (R1194) He confessed that he had driven around the previous night searching for a window to look into, but said that that was the extent of his activity. (R1194)

Agent Hudepohl, relating that as a child he had done some wrong and had told lies to cover things up, urged Jennings to tell the truth so that he would not get in deeper and would feel better. (R1194-1195) Hudepohl told Jennings that the police were giving the defendant an opportunity to talk that not many people receive, and that he knew the defendant was sorry and had never intended to kill the girl. (R1195-1196)

Jennings asked for a few minutes rest, but Hudepohl continued to stress his and Agent Porter's certainty that the defendant did not intend for the incident to occur. (R1196) The defendant, fraught with remorse, finally broke down, answering that he never had any intent to kill the victim. (R1196)

The defendant related that none of it was supposed to happen, that he only was going to look into the window. (R1196) He was uncertain why the crime occurred, speculating that it may have been because he was intoxicated; that it just happened. (R1196) The defendant, having seen the window with a nightlight inside, looked in and saw someone lying in bed. (R1196-1197) He told police that he took the screen off, opened the unlocked window, and pushed the curtain aside to get a better look at the girl. (R1197) The defendant only looked for a while then left in his automobile. (R1197)

Jennings related that while on his way home, he found himself back at the victim's house again, not understanding how or why he had come back. (R1197) This time, the defendant admitted, he went inside through the window, grabbed the girl and put his hand over her nose and mouth until she lost

- 7 -

consciousness. (R1197) After putting the victim into his car, the defendant drove to a nearby canal. (R1197) There, according to his statement, the defendant inserted his finger into the girl's vagina. (R1198) He attempted to engage in sexual intercourse, he said, but was unable to get his penis inside her. (R1198) The defendant denied engaging in oral sex. (R1198) He told police that, after attempting sexual intercourse, he threw her, unconscious, into the canal and left. (R1198)

Upon questioning by the police, the defendant said that he did not know how the victim had received the cut under her eye, speculating that she may have gotten cut the same way he had gotten scraped -- he had fallen down. (R1198) In response to Hudepohl's questions, the defendant said he did not recall hitting the girl's head. (R1198-1199) Jennings reiterated that he did not mean for the girl to die, that he did not mean for any of it to happen. (R1200)

The defendant, at the officers' request, drew several maps indicating where he had parked his automobile, where he had taken the girl, and where he had several hours later disposed of his clothing. (R1199-1200,1202-1204,1169-1171)

The defendant said that he thought he had outgrown looking into windows, not having done so for at least two years. (R1204) In concluding his statement, Jennings told the agents that he was "scared as hell" and that he guessed that now he really needed a lawyer. (R1201,1204-1205)

As a result of the statements given by Jennings in this interview, the Sheriff's Department searched the creek where Bryan had told them he had disposed of his clothing. A sweatshirt was recovered. (R467,470-472) Also, after the interrogation and based on information contained therein, the police photographed the defendant's penis, on which there was a scrape. (R478,1172,1175)

- 8 -

At trial, Allen Kruger testified for the state that Jennings told him that he (the defendant) had dropped the girl out of her window, picked her up by her legs, brought her up over his head and struck her head on the pavement. (R449-451) Kruger also stated that the defendant claimed to have held the girl's head under water for ten minutes, leaving her in the water for the crabs, turtles and sharks. (R452)

On cross-examination, Kruger admitted that he was currently in state prison having completed three years of his sentence. (R452-453) He first approached the authorities with his story while he was awaiting sentencing in 1979. (R453) He admitted that he failed to mention Jennings' statement during numerous previous interviews with authorities. (R453-454) Kruger denied receiving any benefits as a result of his cooperation with the state, in spite of the fact that he is currently serving his sentence at a minimum security facility. (R453-450) He finally admitted that he would volunteer information to the authorities if he thought it would benefit himself. (R459)

At trial, Bryan's aunt (with whom Bryan and his mother and sister lived) testified that he appeared extremely intoxicated and wobbly on his feet when she saw him at 5:30 a.m. on May 11, 1979. (R529-531) A companion of Bryan's on May 10, 1979, testified that Bryan had been drinking heavily, consuming more than three gallons of beer. (R539-543) Bryan was staggering and appeared to be drunk. (R542-543) Bryan's mother testified that her son also might have been under the influence of cocaine. (R750-751)

At sentencing, Doctor Michael Gutman, a court-appointed psychiatrist, testified that Bryan suffered from a long-term character and behavior disorder and was a sexually perverse individual. (R714) With this disorder and under the influence of alcohol, Bryan's flaws and an aggressive, sexually perverse

- 9 -

nature could be released, causing the incident of May 11, 1979. (R714-722) While Bryan was legally sane, the doctor opined, based on the consumption of alcohol and his psychological disorder, some situation occurred, the effect of which Bryan could not limit it as a normal person could. (R714-715,721-722)

Another psychiatrist and a psychologist also expounded on Bryan's mental problems. (R689-711,754-797) Dr. Elizabeth McMahon, a clinical psychologist, testified that due to the alcohol and his mental disorders Bryan's ability to control his behavior was severely impaired. (R768-775) Bryan does not have the ability to control his emotional impulses and completely lacks self-control of any sort. (R763) Both Drs. Gutman and McMahon agreed that Bryan fit the criteria set forth in the applicable mentally disordered sex offender statute. (R724,776) Testifying on behalf of the state, Dr. Wilder disagreed with the other doctors on most of the ultimate issues. (R689-711) Admittedly, his examination of Jennings was less extensive than the other doctors. (R803-806)

Other testimony elicited at the sentencing phase showed that Bryan Jennings was an illegitimate child who never knew his real father. (R735-736) His mother married an alcoholic and the family moved constantly. Jennings had a history of psychiatric problems, including voyeurism and transvestism. (R736-748) These problems went mostly untreated due to a variety of reasons, including lack of funds. (R736-737,738-739,745) One year before Bryan entered the service, he had been accepted as a patient in a mental institution, but his mother decided not to send him at the last minute. (R743-745) Testimony also revealed that Bryan was capable of helping others during a crisis and also possessed some sensitivity. (R732-733,749-750)

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING, OVER DEFENSE COUNSEL'S OBJECTIONS, THE DEFENDANT'S CONFESSION WHERE THE STATEMENT WAS OBTAINED FOLLOW-ING HIS REQUEST FOR COUNSEL AND WHERE THE STATEMENT WAS NOT FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY MADE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. The Police Agents Continued The Interrogation After The Defendant Had Requested The Assistance Of Counsel Prior To Talking With Police.

On May 12, 1979, at 1:00 a.m., Bryan Jennings was awakened by police for the purpose of obtaining a statement from him. (R869,1185) After being advised of his rights, Jennings requested to speak with an attorney prior to submitting to the custodial interrogation. (R1185) After a pause during which the agents were undoubtedly contemplating their interrogation strategy, the police ignored Bryan's request and talked to him concerning their desire to hear his side of the story. (R1185-1186) Upon continued discussion and without counsel having been made available to Jennings, the police obtained from him a "waiver" of his right to an attorney and a tape-recorded statement. (R1185-1186) The agents also admitted that, following the interrogation, they obtained photographs of Jennings. (R892) The agents admitted that these were obtained following yet another request for an attorney. (R926-927) The admission into evidence of this statement properly objected to by defense counsel (R464-465,479,481-482,485,488-490,500-501), violated the defendant's rights under the Fifth Amendment (right against self-incrimination), Sixth Amendment (right to counsel), and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and

- 11 -

Article I, Section 9 (right against self-incrimination) and Section 16 (right to counsel) of the Florida Constitution.

In <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), the United States Supreme Court held that where a defendant is undergoing custodial interrogation and he indicates his desire to exercise his right to consult with an attorney, interrogation must cease. The Court prohibited any further elicitation of information without the benefit of counsel:

> If the individual states that he wants an attorney, the interrogation must cease until an attorney is present... If the individual cannot obtain an attorney and he indicates that he wants one before speaking to police, they must respect his decision to remain silent. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. at 474.

Later cases have not abandoned that view. In <u>Michigan v. Mosely</u>, 423 U.S. 96 (1975), the Court noted that <u>Miranda</u> had distinguished between the procedural safeguards triggered by a request to remain silent and a request for an attorney and had required that interrogation cease until an attorney was present only if the individual stated that he wanted counsel. <u>Michigan v. Mosley</u>, 423 U.S. at 104, n. 10. In <u>Fare v. Michael C.</u>, 442 U.S. 707,719 (1979), the Court referred to <u>Miranda's</u> "rigid rule that an accused's request for an attorney is <u>per se</u> an invocation of his Fifth Amendment rights, requiring that all interrogation cease." And, in <u>Rhode Island v. Innis</u>, 446 U.S. 291, 298 (1980), a case where a suspect in custody had invoked his <u>Miranda</u> right to counsel, the United States Supreme Court again referred to the "undisputed right under <u>Miranda</u> to remain silent" and to be free of interrogation "until he had consulted with a lawyer." The recent case of <u>Edwards v. Arizona</u>, 451 U.S. 477, (1981), amplifies these views.

In the instant case, Jennings exercised his right to counsel prior to interrogation. However, in violation of the above-cited cases, interrogation

- 12 -

did not cease. Rather, the officers continued discussing the defendant's rights and told Jennings that they really wanted to hear his side of the story. The confession which was obtained following the continued interrogation was constitutionally inadmissible. <u>Edwards v. Arizona, supra</u>. <u>See also Brewer v.</u> <u>Williams</u>, 430 U.S. 387 (1977); <u>Cason v. State</u>, 373 So.2d 372 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); <u>Singleton v. State</u>, 344 So.2d 911 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 354 So.2d 986 (Fla. 1977).

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