### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

MAR 14 1983

SID	J.	WHITE
OLERK S	N	EME GOURT
		wall
Chie	if De	Duty Cierts

BRYAN JENNINGS, )
Appellant, )
vs.

CASE NO. 62,600

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

EVELYN D. GOLDEN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, F1 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

There were no threats made by the officers threatening

Appellant with the electric chair or like; or promises to help Appellant (R-890,905). Telling a defendant that he'd feel a whole lot better if he told the truth, is light years away from telling him, "If you done it, tell us, and we'll help you out on this thing." The totality of the circumstances in Brewer are grossly dissimiliar to the totality of the circumstances in the instant case.

The Appellee would maintain that because this Court adjudicated the propriety of the denial of the defendant/appellant's motion to suppress confession and fruits thereof in Appellant's prior appeal to this Court; that opinion affirming that the confession and the fruits thereof were admissible into evidence; must be treated as the law of the case on this issue. See <a href="State v. Rollins">State v. Rollins</a>, 386 So.2d 619 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); <a href="State v. Rollins">State v. Rollins</a>, 386 So.2d 619 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978); <a href="Haddock v. State">Haddock v. State</a>, 141 Fla.132, 192 So. 802 (1940). This case does not fall within the exception to the doctrine of the law of the case based upon a different factual posture on remand. <a href="Cape Coral Bank v. Kinney">Cape Coral Bank v. Kinney</a>, 321 So.2d 597 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975) and <a href="Walker v. Atlantic Coastline Railroad Co.">Walker v. Atlantic Coastline Railroad Co.</a>, 121 So.2d 713 (Fla. lst DCA 1960). Here, the facts remain unchanged.

Additionally, the Appellee would argue that the trial court should not have allowed Appellant to assert this issue during the new trial. "Having once successfully appealed a criminal conviction, a defendant is not entitled, during a new trial, to again raise matters previously expressly passed upon and found to be without merit by the appellate court."

State v. Thompson, infra. This being so, the question of the admissibility of the confession and fruits thereof was affirmed in the Appellant's first appeal; and therefore, its admissibility became the law of the case. <u>Id</u>. at 430; <u>Jennings v. State</u>, infra.

#### POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OBTAINED AS A RESULT OF THE DEFENDANT/ APPELLANT'S CONFESSION.

#### ARGUMENT

The Appellee would expressly rely upon its argument in Point One, in maintaining that Appellant's confession was freely and voluntarily made and therefore, the evidence obtained as a result of his confession was admissible evidence.

#### POINT THREE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AND FOR A NEW TRIAL ON COUNT I WHERE THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH PREMEDITATION.

#### ARGUMENT

The testimony of Allen Kruger, which establishes that the Appellant dropped little Rebecca Kunash out of the window and picked her up over his head and slammed her down on the pavement twice, is sufficient to establish premeditation (R-451). Additionally, Kruger's testimony that Appellant told him that he carried the girl to the river and held her head under the water for ten (10) minutes and left her there for the crabs, turtles and sharks was further evidence of premeditation.

Doctor Adamson's testimony corroborated Kruger's testimony as to the fact that little Rebecca Kunash was drowned; and that with the extent of her injuries; the cause of death could have resulted from either the injuries to her head or from the fact that the defendant/appellant held her head under water (R-235,243). Either way, little Rebecca Kunash was incapable of surviving when she was thrown or placed in the river.

When the Appellant moved for an acquittal, he admitted the facts adduced in evidence and every conclusion favorable to the Appellee which is fairly and reasonably inferable therefrom. Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666, 670 (Fla. 1975).

Based upon the foregoing facts, the Appellee would maintain that in the case sub judice there was ample evidence from which the jury could have found premeditation. "If the evidence shows that the accused had ample time to form a purpose to kill the deceased and for the mind of the killer to become fully conscious of his own design, it will be deemed sufficient in point of time in which to enable the killer to form a premeditated design to kill. Green v. State, 93 Fla. 1076, 113 So. 121, 122 (1927); Buford v. State, 403 So.2d 943, 949 (Fla. 1981). The act of holding the child under water for ten (10) minutes; after crushing her skull to a pulp; was clearly an act establishing a well-defined purpose and intention to kill.

Appellant further maintains that he was intoxicated and couldn't form the specific intent to kill. The Appellant's confession disputes this contention. Appellant stated that after he left the "Booby Trap," he decided to go for a swim to kind of sober up; and that he jumped into the ocean itself (R-880). Additionally, Appellant's friend testified that Appellant was able to walk to his car and unlock the door without much difficulty; and that he was not falling down drunk (R,546-548).

In view of the defendant/appellant's detailed confession giving a detailed account of the crime, is obviously inconsistent with his contention that he had a diminished or impaired mental capacity because of excessive consumption of alcohol. See Stone v. State, 378 So.2d 765, 772 (Fla. 1980).

The trial court ruled that there was sufficient

evidence of premeditation and denied Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal and that ruling comes to this Court with a presumption of correctness. Appellant's arguments relative to the expert's testimony during the penalty phase is irrelevant to his motion for judgment of acquittal in that the record is void of any motion for new trial.

#### POINT FOUR

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL MADE AFTER THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGU-MENT AT THE GUILT PHASE.

#### ARGUMENT

The comment of the prosecutor was a fair comment in response to defense counsel's remarks relative to the defendant's right to make a free call to an attorney (R-583). Defense counsel's motion for mistrial was based upon the grounds that the prosecutor's remark was a misstatement of the law; designed to prejudice and inflame the jury. Defense counsel further based his motion for mistrial on the ground that the rights of little Rebecca Kunash have nothing to do with the constitutional rights of the defendant (R-605).

The prosecutor simply asked the jury to weigh the evidence against the defendant in light of his constitutional rights; and not to forget the victim.

astray to wrongful verdicts by the impassioned eloquence of the prosecutor. See Johnson v. State, 348 So.2d 646 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). A considerable degree of latitude is allowed prosecutors in closing argument to the jury. Thomas v. State, 326 So.2d 413, 415 (Fla. 1975). The control of comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of such discretion is shown. Thomas, supra.

It has long been held that the granting or denial of a motion for mistrial is a matter of discretion with the trial judge. Abbottv. State, 334 So.2d 642, 646 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). A new trial should be granted when it is "reasonably evident that the remarks might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise done." Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287, 289 (Fla. 1976), cert. den., 430 U.S. 104, 97 S.Ct. 308, 50 L.Ed. 2d 282 (1977). Each case must be considered on its own merits, however, and within the circumstances surrounding the complained of remarks. Id. See Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). In Breedlove, this Court found similar comments (referring to a victim's right's in their own home to be free from violence), to not be so prejudicial as to require a new trial. Specifically, in Breedlove, this Court noted the comments which read:

"When we walk the streets we take our chances." In response to an objection the court said: "Stay on the evidence in this case." The prosecutor then said: "One place in the world where we ought to be free from this kind of violence, this kind of crime, is in our own home." The court overruled an objection to this remark.

Id. at 413 So.2d 8, Note 11.

This Court went on to add:

"These comments appear to reflect common knowledge and are probably the sentiments of a large number of people. They do not appear to be out of place."

Id. 413 So.2d 8, Note 11.

In reviewing prosecutorial comments for possible prejudice, this Court must not consider the comments in isolation. The comments must be evaluated in the context not only of the prosecutor's entire closing argument but of the trial as a whole. Cobb v. Wainwright, 609 F.2d 754, 755 N. 1 (5th Cir. 1980), cert. denied 100 S.Ct. 2991, 447 U.S. 907, 64 L.Ed. 2d 857 (1980). Appellant must establish that the comments were prejudicial Black v. State, 383 So.2d 295 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). In the instant case, Appellant has failed to establish that the objected to comments were prejudicial.

The Appellee would urge the Court to reaffirm its reasoning in <a href="Breedlove">Breedlove</a>; that the objected to remarks herein, <a href="may have">may have</a> been improper (of which we do not concede that they were), but not so prejudicial as to require a new trial. The Appellee would further argue that the evidence is overwhelming that Appellant is guilty of murdering little Rebecca Kunash. The prosecutor's argument did not contribute to Appellant's conviction. Therefore this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of defendant/appellant's motion for mistrial. Compare, <a href="Zamot v. State">Zamot v. State</a>, 375 So.2d 881 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). See also <a href="Blair v. State">Blair v. State</a>, 406 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981).

#### POINT FIVE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE THREE PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE SIX YEAR OLD VICTIM.

#### ARGUMENT

Relevancy remains the basic test for admissibility of gruesome photographs. <u>Bauldree v. State</u>, 284 So.2d 196, 197 (Fla. 1973); <u>Foster v. State</u>, 369 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1979). In Foster, this Court reaffirmed that:

"Thus, the current position of this court is that allegedly gruesome and inflammatory photographs are admissible into evidence if relevant to any issue required to be proven in a case. Relevancy is to be determined in the normal manner, that is, without regard to any special characterization of the proffered evidence. Under this conception, the issues of 'whether cumulative, or'whether photographed away from the scene' are routine issues basic to a determination of relevancy, and is not issues arising from any 'exceptional nature' of the proffered evidence.

Id. at 369 So.2d 930.

The photograph of the victim was relevant to the issue of the identity of the victim (R,222-223). In <u>Foster</u> this Court squarely ruled that; "A defendant cannot, by stipulating as to the identity of a victim and the cause of death, relieve the State of its burden of proof beyond a reasonable

doubt. <u>Id</u>. at 930. The two photographs of the victim's vagina (showing trauma thereto) was relevant to the issue of penetration; which the State must prove to sustain a conviction for sexual battery, alleged in Count Five of the indictment (sexual battery by placing his penis in the victim's vagina) (R,680-681).

senses and might tend to inflame the jury is insufficient by itself to constitute reversible error. Foster, infra; State v. Wright, 265 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1972). The photographs of the victim's vagina was relevant also to corroborate the doctor's testimony regarding penetration. The photographs were relevant and therefore admissible. Id. The view of the victim's vagina was neither gory nor inflammatory beyond the simple fact that no photograph of a dead body is pleasant. See Alford v. State, 307 So.2d 433, 441 (Fla. 1975), (wherein this Court noted that the trial judge ruled a close-up photograph of the victim's vaginal area revealing injury to that area; but based upon the above referenced rationale, this Court ruled that the pictures were admissible). Id.

#### POINT SIX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL DURING THE PENALTY PHASE

#### ARGUMENT

The objected to remark made by Doctor Wilder, a State's witness, was not responsive to the prosecutor's question:

[PROSECUTOR] Based upon your evaluation of Mr. Jennings, do you have a medical term that you would apply to a person with his character orders and his mental state at the time of May 11, 1979?

[DR. WILDER] Well, yes, but I would apply it only because of history, not because of anything I observed about him at that time.

[PROSECUTOR] And what history were you aware of at the time of your examination?

[DR. WILDER] He allegedly had committed a number of crimes while in the service, attacking people, robbing people and doing things of that kind, and in addition to the one for which he was being charged at the time.

Usually, people who do repeated things which are against the law, we refer to them as sociopaths. That is, people who have no regard for the rights of others, have no regard for the feelings and have no regard for the norays of the community, for the laws of the community. So, the term, sociopath, is used for them. (R-692).

[PROSECUTOR] For that class of people, generally?

[DOCTOR WILDER] Yes. (R-693).

At that time the prosecutor asked to approach the bench and counsel for defendant/appellant moved for a mistrial (R-693). Clearly, the above mentioned statement was not responsive to the prosecutor's question. Mr. Hunt, the prosecutor, was simply trying to find out the medical term for his conclusion (R-694).

Unlike in Maggard v. State, 399 So.2d 973, 977

(Fla. 1981), the State did not present any evidence of Jennings' prior criminal record for violence. A state's witness inadvertently injected this evidence, in an answer that clearly was not responsive to the prosecutor's question. Additionally, contrary to Appellant's assertion, Doctor Wilder's statement could not be considered as "extensive evidence" such as that presented in Maggard. The prosecutor agreed prior to trial to not argue any evidence of Appellant's prior criminal record because Appellant was a juvenile at the time he committed those offenses. This was not the situation as that in Maggard, where the trial judge denied Maggard's motion to exclude evidence of his prior nonviolent crimes and the court denied that motion, even though Maggard agreed not to argue that he had no significant history of prior criminal activity.

Likewise, <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 51 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1951) cited by Appellant is inapplicable to the instant case. <u>Stewart</u> involved the prosecuting attorney who made improper comments;

not a witness for the prosecution, as were the facts herein.

After a curative instruction from the trial judge, the jurors clearly indicated that they would not consider Doctor Wilder's testimony regarding "so-called alleged past criminal acts" (R,694-695).

Doctor Wilder's response went beyond the prosecutor's question. This statement was not made during the guilt phase. Doctor Wilder's testimony was used to rebut the defense of insanity, not to prove that Jennings was the murderer of Rebecca Kunash. The trial judge gave a curative instruction directing the jury to disregard the objected to statement. Therefore, the Appellee would submit that Appellant has failed to show that Doctor Wilder's testimony was prejudical to him. See United States v. Roberts, 470 F.2d 1190 (5th Cir. 1972); and United States v. Carter, 526 F.2d 1276 (5th Cir. 1976). In view of the manner in which the comment came in, the trial judge's instructions and the nature of the overall evidence in the case, indicates that no reversible error occurred.

#### POINT SEVEN

THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL BY THE COURT'S DENIAL OF HIS REQUEST FOR SPECIAL JURY INSTRUCTIONS AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

#### ARGUMENT

The defendant/appellant submitted several written instructions at the penalty phase (R,1131-1143). The trial court denied all of those charges except part of one, providing that; "the mitigating circumstances which you may consider are unlimited. You may consider any evidence presented at trial or the sentencing proceeding in mitigation of the defendant's sentence." (R-1139). The defendant failed to object to the denial of his request for special jury instructions (R-813).

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